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» i F US.DISTRICT COURT
K AR NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT ;" FILED
' FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS | .
DALLAS DIVISION app 2 2004
CLERK, US.DISTRICTCOURT
INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT § By
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§
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' 304CV-854 P
v § CIVIL ACTION NO.
§
INTP, Inc. §
§
Defendant. §
§

COMPLAINT FOR FALSE AND MISLEADING REPRESENTATIONS,
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL AND BUSINESS
RELATIONSHIPS AND DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF NON-INFRINGEMENT

NOW COMES Plaintiff, International Development Corporation (“IDC”), and files this
Complaint against Defendant INTP, Inc. (“INTP”), and in support of same alleges the following:

I.
NATURE OF ACTION

1. By this action, IDC seeks injunctive relief, compensatory and enhanced damages
and an award of reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs by reason of (i) defendant INTP’s
false and misleading representations, in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B) and (ii) defendant
INTP’s tortious interference with existing and prospective contracts and business relationships
between IDC and its customers and potential customers. IDC further seeks a declaratory
judgment from this court that neither IDC nor its existing or potential customers has infringed

any valid copyright owned by INTP.
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IL
PARTIES

2. Plaintiff International Development Corporation is a Texas corporation, having its
principal place of business in Southlake, Texas, and conducting business throughout the State of
Texas and in this judicial district.

3. Upon information and belief, defendant INTP, Inc. is a Florida corporation,
having a principal place of business in Fort Lauderdale, Florida. This cause of action arises out
of acts of INTP directed at the State of Texas. On information and belief, INTP regularly and
systematically conducts business and commits the acts complained of herein in the State of
Texas and in this judicial district.

I
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. The cause of action for false advertising arises under the Laws of the United
States, 15 U.S.C. § 1125; and this Court has subject matter jurisdiction of such actions and
claims pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1121 and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). This court has
jurisdiction over IDC’s copyright-related declaratory judgment claims under 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201
and 2202 and 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq. This court has jurisdiction over IDC’s state law claims
under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1338(b) and 1367 and pursuant to the doctrine of pendent jurisdiction.
Venue is based upon the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). There is diversity of
citizenship between the parties and, on information and belief, the amount in controversy

exceeds $75,000, such that this court has diversity jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28

US.C. § 1332.
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Iv.
FACTS OF THE CASE

5. IDC and INTP are in the business of manufacturing and marketing solar-powered
lighting products, including solar-powered lighted house numbers, which they market to the
trade, including but not limited to retailers.

6. On information and belief, INTP has misrepresented, and is misrepresenting, to
one or more customers and potential customers of IDC, during the course of promotion of
INTP’s products, that certain products being offered for sale by INTP were and are
“copyrighted,” and that the sale of products by IDC and purchased by one or more of IDC’s
customers constitutes an infringement of INTP’s copyrights, when IDC’s products in question
were neither copyrighted nor subject to copyright.

7. On information and belief, INTP has misrepresented, and is misrepresenting, to
one or more customers of IDC, during the course of promotion of INTP’s products, that certain
products being offered for sale by INTP were “patented,” when such products were not, in fact,
patented.

8. INTP has willfully and intentionally threatened IDC and one or more customers
and potential customers of IDC with a lawsuit for copyright infringement arising out of the sale
of products purchased by such customers from IDC.

9. As a result of INTP’s threats, IDC’s customers and potential customers have a
reasonable apprehension that they will be sued by INTP for copyright infringement if they
purchase the products from IDC.

10. At the time of INTP’s threats and misrepresentations, IDC had ongoing business

relationships with its customers, including existing sales contracts and a high likelihood of
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entering into proposed sales contracts.

11.  Absent interference by INTP, IDC had a reasonable probability of entering into
proposed new sales contracts with existing and prospective customers.

12. The IDC products complained of by INTP do not, in fact, infringe any cognizable
right of INTP. The threats made by INTP against IDC’s existing and potential customers do not
have a reasonable basis in law, and on information and belief were and are willfully and
intentionally made with knowledge that they were and are legally baseless, with malice and with
the intent to disrupt the existing business relationships, the existing contractual relationships and
potential contractual relationships between IDC and IDC’s existing and potential customers.

13. INTP knew, or had reason to know, that its threats of litigation would interfere
with existing and potential contracts between IDC and IDC’s existing and potential customers.

14.  IDC has been damaged by the baseless threats and misrepresentations made by
INTP to IDC’s existing and potential customers.

V.
FALSE AND MISLEADING REPRESENTATIONS

15. Paragraphs 1 through 14 are incorporated herein for the purpose of providing the
initial factual allegations for this cause of action.

16.  The above misrepresentations of fact made in commercial advertising and
promotion of INTP’s products constitutes false and misleading description of fact, and false and
misleading representation of fact, as to the nature, characteristics, and qualities of INTP’s goods,
with such misrepresentations being designed to influence, and having the effect of influencing,
the purchasing decisions of those to whom these misrepresentations are directed. These

misrepresentations constitute a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B), and unless restrained, will
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continue to occur, to the damage of plaintiff IDC.
VL
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH
EXISTING CONTRACT
17.  Paragraphs 1 through 14 are incorporated herein for the purpose of providing the
initial factual allegations for this cause of action.
18.  INTP’s acts constitute tortious interference with IDC’s existing contracts with
IDC’s existing customers, in violation of Texas law.
VIIL.
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH
PROSPECTIVE CONTRACT
19.  Paragraphs 1 through 14 are incorporated herein for the purpose of providing the
initial factual allegations for this cause of action.
20.  INTP’s acts constitute tortious interference with IDC’s proposed contracts with
IDC’s existing and potential customers, in violation of Texas law.
VIII.
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH
BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP
21.  Paragraphs 1 through 14 are incorporated herein for the purpose of providing the
initial factual allegations for this cause of action.
22.  INTP’s acts constitute tortious interference with the business relationships
between IDC and IDC’s customers, in violation of Texas law.
IX.
DECLARATORY JUDGMENT OF
NON-INFRINGEMENT OF COPYRIGHT

23.  Paragraphs 1 through 14 are incorporated herein for the purpose of providing the
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initial factual allegations for this cause of action.

24.  In the present case, INTP asserts copyright protection on its products, which are
useful articles not constituting proper subject matter for copyright protection. The copyrights
asserted by INTP cover only photographs and drawings of INTP’s products registered as literary
works, and not the design of the products themselves.

25.  IDC has not reproduced, performed, displayed, distributed copies of, or prepared
derivative works based upon, any validly-copyrighted work of INTP.

26.  INTP’s threats of litigation, without action, against IDC’s existing and potential
customers have created a cloud over the business relationships between IDC and its existing and
potential customers.

27.  The dispute between IDC and INTP represents an actual controversy within the
jurisdiction of this Court.

28.  IDC seeks a judicial declaration from this Court to confirm its rights and legal
status. In this case, there is a real controversy regarding the copyrights alleged by INTP, coupled
with a clear manifestation that the declaration sought will be of practical value in resolving the
entire controversy between the parties regarding such. Accordingly, IDC is entitled to a
declaratory judgment from this court that INTP has no valid copyright on the design of its
products and the products of IDC and the acts of IDC and its existing and potential customers

complained of do not constitute infringement of any valid copyrights owned by INTP.
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WHEREFORE PLAINTIFF PRAYS:

(a) That INTP, and its agents, servants, attorneys, employees, successors, and
assigns, and any and all persons, firms, associations, and corporations, wholly or acting by,
through or under any of the defendants, or in aid or in conjunction with any of the defendants,
and those in privity therewith, during the pendency of this action, and thereafter permanently, be
enjoined and restrained from:

(1) engaging in acts of false advertising, including but not limited to
making representations that unpatented and uncopyrighted products are patented and/or

copyrighted;

(ii) tortiously interfering with existing contracts between IDC and any

other party;

(iil) tortiously interfering with potential contracts between IDC and any

other party; and

(iv) tortiously interfering with business relationships between IDC and any
other party.

(b) That this Court declare that no product of IDC or act of IDC or its existing or
potential customers infringes any copyright of INTP;

(©) That judgment be entered against INTP for any and all damages sustained and
suffered by IDC, including enhanced damages, by reason of the acts complained of herein. IDC
is not informed and is unable to state at this time the exact amount of profits and damages due it.

(d) That plaintiff recover its costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 15

U.S.C. § 1117; and
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(e) That plaintiff have such other and further relief as the Court may deem just,
equitable and proper in the premises.

Respectfully submitted,

Date: Apei Z2, 24 M

Kenneth T. Emanuelson
Texas Bar No. 24012591
Kenneth R. Glaser

Texas Bar No. 07999000

GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP
3000 Thanksgiving Tower

1601 Elm Street, Suite 3000

Dallas, Texas 75201-4761

Tel: 214-999-3000

Fax: 214-999-4667

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT
CORPORATION
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